2010-KM-01850-COA

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Court may evaluate disqualifications or recusal.

i

- Honorable Judge William E. Chapman III Madison County Circuit Court Judge P.O. Box 1626 Canton, MS 39046
- Honorable Judge Edwin Y. Hannan Madison County Court Judge
 P.O. Box 1626
 Canton, MS 39046

 Honorable Scott A. Johnson Office of the Attorney General, State of Mississippi P.O. Box 22947 Jackson, MS 39225

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. THE COUNTY COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT A DISPROPORTIONATE AMOUNT OF WORK WAS DONE TO THE HOME IN QUESTION AS COMPARED TO THE AMOUNT OF MONEY ADVANCED BY THE HOMEOWNERS
- II. THE APPELLANT DID NOT COMMIT HOME REPAIR FRAUD BY STOPPING WORK ON THE HOME IN QUESTION, AS THE CONTRACT SPECIFICALLY PROVIDED THAT IF PAYMENTS ARE NOT MADE THE WORK SHALL CEASE
- III. THE COUNTY COURT JUDGE ERRONEOUSLY DENIED THE DEFENDANT'S REQUEST FOR JURY INSTRUCTION D-12 TO BE PRESENTED TO THE JURY
- IV. THE COUNTY COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING EVIDENCE THAT THE APPELLANT HAD FAILED TO PAY SOME OF HIS SUBCONTRACTORS TO BE BROUGHT INTO COURT AND USED TO CONVICT THE APPELLANT OF HOME REPAIR FRAUD
- V. THE COUNTY COURT JUDGE SHOULD HAVE TAKEN INTO CONSIDERATION TESTIMONY FROM THE DEFENSE'S EXPERT WITNESS WHEN DETERMINING THE APPROPRIATE AMOUNT OF RESTITUTION TO BE PAID BY THE APPELLANT
- VI. SUBJECTING THE APPELLANT TO CRIMINAL PROSECUTION WOULD OPERATE TO SUBJECT TO CRIMINAL PROSECUTION AN ENORMOUS NUMBER OF CONTRACTORS WHO CONDUCT BUSINESS WITHIN THIS STATE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

The Appellant appeals his conviction in the County Court of Madison County, Mississippi, and the affirmation of his conviction in the Circuit Court of Madison County, of Home Repair Fraud in violation of Miss. Code Ann. § 97-23-103. The Appellant asserts that the County Court erred in finding that the amount of work done by the Appellant was disproportionate to the amount of money advanced by the homeowners. The Appellant did engage in making repairs to the home and the repairs made were consistent with the amount of money advanced at the time. Further, the Appellant had the contractual right to cease work on the home when the homeowner, Mr. Buchanan, stopped sending in the required payments for the repairs. The contract specifically provided that if the homeowner ceases his payments, work will cease on the home, without resulting in breach of contract, until the dispute is resolved.

The Appellant further asserts that the County Court erred in allowing into court evidence that Mr. White had failed to pay some of his sub-contractors. Whether or not the Appellant paid his sub-contractors for their work is in no way relevant to the charge of home repair fraud of which the Appellant was charged with committing. The Court should not have allowed such evidence to be brought into court, and doing so was error.

The county court judge erred when he refused to take into consideration the defense's expert witness testimony regarding the amount of restitution owed by the Appellant. The judge simply stated that, in his mind, the jury had rejected entirely said expert's testimony. Instead, the judge relied solely on the testimony of the prosecution's expert witness to calculate the restitution owed.

Finally, the judge further erred when he refused to grant the Appellant's jury instruction D-12. Because of the clause in the contract which provided that the Appellant had the right to cease work on the project if a payment dispute arose, the fact that he invoked this clause when a payment dispute arose with Mr. Buchanan is not indicative of home repair fraud and the jury was entitled to receive an instruction on this issue.

B. Course of Proceedings and Disposition of the Courts Below

On or about September 9, 2009, Mr. White entered a plea of not guilty in the County Court of Madison County, Mississippi, on February 26, 2009. (R. 11), and the same was tried before the presiding Judge Ewdin Y. Hannan, sitting with a jury on September 9, 2009. Following a trial *de novo*, Mr. White was found guilty of Home Repair Fraud in violation of Miss. Code Ann. § 97-23-103. (R. 71). On November 5, 2010, the Appellant appealed his conviction to the Circuit Court of Madison County, Mississippi. (R. 84). Circuit Court Judge William Chapman ruled on this appeal, affirming the Appellant's conviction in the County Court. (R. 99-100). Comes now the Appellant and appeals his conviction to this court, the Court of Appeals of the State of Mississippi pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 99-35-101 et. seq.

C. Statement of the Facts

On or about October 11, 2005, Mr. and Mrs. David Buchanan entered into a contract with Mr. Ben White, owner of BW Construction, to construct an addition onto their existing home located at 105 Timber Green Lane, Canton, Mississippi. (T. 135 & 137).

Under the terms of the contract, Mr. White agreed to renovate the Buchanans' existing two car garage into a living room/den area, add a three car garage onto that,

and build a closet space and half bath between the two areas, with the above spaces being an additional bedroom, storage space and bathroom. (T. 138). The original contract stated that the cost of the work to be done would total approximately \$90,300. (T. 139). However, this contract was later amended to provide that the Buchanans would pay for the installation of granite counter-tops and pay the Madison County building and zoning permits. (T. 139). After subtracting these costs, the total amount due by Mr. Buchanan under the contract was \$86,247.45. (T. 163).

The General Provisions of the contract stated that "If payment is not made when due, contractor may suspend work on the job until such time as all payments due have been made. A failure to make payments for a period in excess of two days from the due date of the payment shall be deemed a material breach of this contract." (T. 252). Section 10 of the General Provisions states that "In the event owner shall fail to pay any periodic or installment payment due hereunder, contractor may cease work without breach pending payment or resolution of any dispute." (T. 252). On or about December 16, 2006, Mr. Buchanan engaged Mr. White in a phone conversation regarding the payment installation which was due to Mr. White. (T. 250). Mr. Buchanan informed Mr. White that he would not be advancing any more funds because he could not see progress on the job site consistent with the amount of money he had already paid. (Tr. 250-251). At this point, Mr. Buchanan had advanced to Mr. White a total of \$53,050. (T. 176).

At trial, Mr. Buchanan testified that certain portions of the contract were fulfilled by Mr. White. In regards to section A of the contract, Mr. Buchanan testified that provisions # 1 - 3 were completed, but that provisions # 4 - 14 were not completed. (T.

140). Mr. Buchanan also testified that, in regards to section B of the contract, portions # 4 - 28 were not completed. (T. 157-158). Mr. Buchanan finally testified that in regards to sections C and D, none of the provisions in either section was completed. (T.158).

Mr. Bert Green, an expert in residential building and remodeling, testified that the work performed by Mr. White was clearly proportional to the amount of money paid by the Buchanans thus far. Mr. Green testified that the cost of \$4,900 to develop the plans was reasonable (T. 317), that the cost of \$455 for soil engineering was a realistic amount (T. 319), that the cost of \$6,540 for the removal of the driveway was a fair amount (T. 320), that the cost of \$400 for tearing off the brick facing and the existing garage door was reasonable (T. 320), that the cost of \$3,250 to break up, haul off and bury 1,300 square feet of driveway was a reasonable number (T. 321), that the \$500 for electrical work would be the minimum amount an electrician would likely charge (T. 324), that the cost of the plumbing rough-in was within reason (T. 324), that the cost of the septic tank was reasonable (T. 326) and that the cost of \$3,490 for concrete and form materials was a solid number (T. 328). He went on to testify that the costs estimated by Mr. White for each project were indeed reasonable. (T. 328-345). Mr. Green ended his testimony by stating that, had his clients ceased paying him for a job. as the Buchanans did to Mr. White, he too would have ceased work on the project until further payments were made. (T. 345).

At trial, over the defendant's objections, the prosecution elicited from Mr. Buchanan, the homeowner who hired Mr. White, testimony that Mr. White had refused to pay his sub-contractors for their work. (T. 142). This objection was based on the fact that under Mississippi's home repair fraud statute, Miss. Code Ann. § 97-23-103, it is

irrelevant whether or not Mr. White paid his sub-contractors because failure to pay them would not subject him to prosecution for home repair fraud. The presiding judge erroneously overruled the objection. (T. 155-156).

Following the jury's verdict of guilt, the judge heard arguments from both counsel on their proposed jury instructions. When the defense proposed defendant's jury instruction D-12, the prosecution objected to the admission of this instruction. (T. 403). Defense counsel argued that, because the breach of contract by the Buchahans would be an absolute defense for Mr. White, such instruction should be given to the jury. (T. 403). The trial judge erroneously refused to submit this instruction to the jury, saying that because some of Mr. White's subcontractors were not paid, this instruction should not be submitted to the jury as a defense. (T. 411).

Upon the jury's finding Mr. White guilty of home repair fraud, the judge began the sentencing phase which included a judgment of restitution to be paid by Mr. White. The judge ordered Mr. White to pay a total of \$29,965.18 to Mr. Buchanan and \$7,574.15 to the unpaid subcontractors. (T. 475). In his calculations of the restitution to be paid, the trial judge stated that the estimations provided by the defense's expert witness, Mr. Bert Green, on the value of Mr. White's work was "apparently rejected by the jury." (T. 467). The judge went on to use the estimations of the prosecution's expert witness, Mr. Randy Robertson, when calculating the value of Mr. White's work and the amount of restoration due. (T. 473).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

First, the Appellant asserts that the work he completed on the Buchanans' home was proportionate to the amount of money advanced thus far by the Buchanans. Mr.

White provided the trial court with his labor and materials cost from the work completed on the Buchanans' home and these costs were in line with the amount of money the Buchanans had paid. At the time Mr. White stopped work on the contract, Mr. Buchanan had paid a total of \$53,050. According to Mr. Bert Green, an expert in the field of residential home repair, Mr. White had expended approximately \$49,286.47 on labor and material costs. The extra \$3,763 advanced by Mr. Buchanan was simply leftover upfront working capital in order for Mr. White to finance the construction. Mr. White made no misrepresentations as to the terms or the total cost of the work to be done. The cost of the work done was proportional to the amount of money paid, and the work was being completed just as the contract provided that it would be. Further, Mr. White made no false promises of performance. He promised to build an addition onto Mr. Buchanan's home, and that is what he was in the process of doing when Mr. Buchanan stopped payment. Thus, because there were no false promises or misrepresentations, no home repair fraud was committed by Mr. White.

Further, the Appellant asserts that he did not commit home repair fraud when he stopped work on the contract. Section 10 of the General Provisions of the contract between Mr. White and Mr. Buchanan specifically provides that if a payment dispute arises between the two parties, work on the project would stop until such dispute is resolved. This clause in the contract should be enforced because it was not ambiguous nor was it against any public policy of the State of Mississippi. The clause clearly provides that work will stop if a payment dispute arises. Further, there is no constitutional, statutory or Supreme Court authority in this state which would suggest that such clauses are invalid. Mr. Buchanan did cease his payments to Mr. White,

7 -

saying that he would not pay any more money until he saw more work. This was clearly a payment dispute between the two parties which led Mr. White to activate this clause and cease his work on the home. Thus, because this was a valid and enforceable clause under the contract, Mr. White should not be found guilty of home repair fraud simply for enforcing that clause and stopping work on the Buchanans' home.

Because the aforementioned clause was included in the contract between Mr. White and Mr. Buchanan, the fact that Mr. White chose to invoke this clause and stop work when the payment dispute arose between the two parties was by no means a breach of contract nor was it any evidence of home repair fraud. Therefore, the jury was entitled to receive an instruction on this issue and the failure of the judge to allow such instruction was error.

The county court judge further erred when he admitted evidence that Mr. White had failed to compensate some of his subcontractors for their work on Mr. Buchanan's home. Whether or not Mr. White paid these subcontractors is irrelevant to the charge of home repair fraud. Miss. Code Ann. § 97-23-103 defines what the term "home repair" means and what it entails. Nowhere in this definition does it include paying one's subcontractors as an element of home repair. The statute does provide that fraudulent making promises of performance to repair a home can constitute home repair fraud. However, such promises of performance relate only to the promises for the actual physical repair of the home. Because paying the subcontractors was simply a general provision of the contract and did not effect Mr. Buchanan in any way, this evidence was inadmissible and should not have been allowed to be presented to the jury.

During the sentencing phase when the county court judge was attempting to determine the proper amount of restitution to be paid by Mr. White, the judge refused to consider the estimates provided by the defense's expert witness. Instead, the judge solely relied on the testimony of the prosecution's expert witness relating to the value of the work that was done on the home. This expert witness provided a much lower estimate than did the defense's expert witness regarding the value of the work. Thus, in relying solely on the prosecution's expert witness' estimates, the judge ordered a much higher restitution judgment than he would have if he had taken into consideration the defense's expert witness' estimates.

Allowing Mr. White's conviction to stand would set a dangerous precedent in this state. This precedent would subject to criminal penalties any contractor who charged more on the front end of a contract to build up working capital. Also, any contractor who ceases work on a contract when the other party stops payments would also be subject to criminal prosecution. This statute was intended to punish only those people who made fraudulent misrepresentations or false promises of performance in regards to the repair of a home. Contractors such as Mr. White who provide accurate representations and actually do work on a project as promised should not be subjected to criminal prosecution under this statute.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COUNTY COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT A DISPROPORTIONATE AMOUNT OF WORK WAS DONE TO THE HOME IN QUESTION AS COMPARED TO THE AMOUNT OF MONEY ADVANCED BY THE HOMEOWNERS

Miss. Code Ann. § 97-23-103 provides that a person commits home repair fraud if he:

"(a) enters into an agreement or contract, written or oral, with a person for home repair, and he knowingly misrepresents a material fact relating to the terms of the contract or agreement or the preexisting or existing condition of any portion of the property involved, or creates or confirms another's impression which is false and which he does not believe to be true, or promises performance which he does not intend to perform or knows will not be performed; uses or employs any deception, false pretense or false promises in order to induce, encourage or solicit such person to enter into any contract or agreement; misrepresents or conceals either his real name, the name of his business or his business address; or uses deception, coercion or force to obtain the victim's consent to modification of the terms of the original contract or agreement; (b) damages the property of a person with the intent to enter into an agreement or contract for home repair; or (c) misrepresents himself or another to be an employee or agent of any unit of the federal, state or municipal government or any other governmental unit, or an employee or agent of any public utility, with the intent to cause a person to enter into, with himself or another, any contract or agreement for home repair."

Mr. White did not commit home repair fraud. He neither misrepresented any material facts relating to the terms of the contract nor did he make any promises of performance which he did not intend to perform. A representation and promise was made in the contract for an addition onto the Buchanans' home, and that promise is exactly what Mr. White was in the process of fulfilling.

A total of \$53,050 was paid to Mr. White by Mr. Buchanan. (T.176). According to Mr. White's own voluntary statement introduced at trial, exhibit S-1, the following amounts totaling \$41,700 were paid out by Mr. White for materials and work: \$6,500 for labor of the dirt work, \$7,000 for the new septic unit, \$3,000 for the demolition work, \$4,000 for the plumbing/electrical/pesticide, \$8,000 for the foundation forming and finishing, \$5,000 for the materials for the concrete foundation, concrete, rebar, visqueen and limestone bed, \$400 for the dumpster fee, \$7,000 for the cost of project managers to oversee the renovation and \$800 for permit fees and soil samples.

Mr. White did actually perform work on the home and was in the process of carrying out the work as promised when Mr. Buchanan chose to stop payment on the contract. At the time payment was stopped, Mr. White had completed the following work: (1) removal of existing concrete driveway, (2) burial of existing concrete from driveway to other spot on the property, (3) grading of extension of new driveway, (4) removal of all interior walls (including storage room) from existing garage, (5) removal of bricking from exterior walls from entrance of old garage, (6) rough in of plumbing addition and (7) concrete foundation for new addition and new garage. (R. 7). While this work may not seem, to the average person, proportional to the amount of money paid by Mr. Buchanan, an expert in the field of residential building and remodeling, Bert Green, testified at trial that the work done and the charges for it were proportional to the amount paid.

Mr. Green provided his own estimation of the value of the work completed on the Buchanans' home. According to Mr. Green's estimations, the total cost of the work done on the project was approximately \$49,286.47 at the time the work stopped. This amount not only includes the actual cost of the building materials and labor, but also unscheduled expenses of 5% and a profit and overhead margin of 25%.

Having testified before both the United States House of Representatives and the United States Senate on the matter of profit and overhead margins, Mr. Green explained to the county court why a 25% profit margin and overhead are reasonable figures. (T. 334). Mr. Green explained that every contractor is due a profit margin, as no contractor would work on a job without receiving some sort of profit. (T. 334). Additionally, the contractor also has overhead costs associated with every job, including

insurance, clerical work, telephone, end of year accounting, etc. (T. 334). According to Mr. Green, the National Association of Home Builders has stated that a contractor in the business of remodeling must gross a 35-50% profit in order to stay in business. (T. 335). According to Mr. Green's estimates, the 25% overhead and profit margins were more than reasonable and equaled approximately \$22,000 of the total contract cost. (T. 336).

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