IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BENJAMIN WHITE

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2010-KM-01850-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MADISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE:

SCOTT A. JOHNSON, MSBN
Special Assistant Attorney General
LINDA COSTON DAVIS, MSBN 100798
Special Assistant Attorney General
Post Office Box 22947
Jackson, MS 39225-2947
(601) 359-4230

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

In contrast, Mr. Robertson testified as an expert witness for the State of Mississippi. He received no compensation for his testimony. Mr. Roberts testified that Mr. White had performed only \$9,300.00 worth of work. Even if you add a 25% profit margin and 5% unexpected expense charge, as was deemed appropriate by Mr. Green, then Mr. White was only entitled to recover a total of \$12,090.00 per Mr. Robertson's testimony.

Both experts testified at length. The disparity between the their figures was submitted to the jury. As stated by the Court of Appeals in the case of *Davis v. Mississippi*:

The jury, sitting as finders of fact, hears the evidence first hand and has the opportunity to view the witness and observe [his] demeanor on the stand; matters which are invaluable in assessing questions regarding credibility. It is for this reason that a jury's resolution of disputed facts is entitled to deference when reviewed by an appellate court.

863 So.2d 1000, 1005 (Miss. COA 2004)(citing *Hogan v. State*, 854 So.2d 497 (¶ 17)(Miss. COA 2003)).

More recently, the same Court recognized:

It is well settled that "[w]hen evidence is in conflict, the jury is the sole judge of both

the credibility of a witness and the weight of his testimony." *Payton v. State*, 897 So.2d 921, 940 (¶ 57)(Miss. 2003). Given the jury's verdict, it is clear which version of events the jury decided to believe.

Adams v. State, 33 So.3d 1179, 1182 (Miss. COA 2010)(emphasis added).

It is also clear here which version of the proper allowances for work performed was believed. Further, when the Court was sitting as finder of fact in the restitution phase of the trial, the Court concluded that Mr. White was only entitled to \$15,510.67 or, in other words, \$37,539.33 less than the amount he had already been paid by the Buchanans. The magnitude of these discrepancies doesn't lie. Mr. White is guilty of home repair fraud.

II. RESPONSE TO MR. WHITE'S ALLEGATION THAT HE DIDN'T COMMIT HOME REPAIR FRAUD BECAUSE THE CONTRACT ALLOWED HIM TO CEASE WORK

The contract provision upon which Mr. White puts his misplaced reliance states the following:

(10.) In the event Owner shall fail to pay any periodic or installment **payment due** hereunder, Contractor may cease work without breach pending payment or resolution of any dispute. (emphasis added)

The State of Mississippi would first direct the Court's attention to the fact that Mr. Buchanan, the homeowner, did not refuse to make additional payments until he had advanced \$53,050.00 for approximately only \$15,000.00 worth of work completed, as discussed in Section I above. Accordingly, no one can with a straight face claim that any additional payment was "due" so as to make this contractual provision applicable.

Second, Mr. White is asking this Court to "legislate" by judicial fiat an affirmative defense to a criminal charge where no such defense has been promulgated by the Mississippi Legislature.

Section 97-23-103 of the Mississippi Code (i.e., the Home Repair Fraud Statute) states in pertinent part:

A person commits home repair fraud if he: (a) enters into an agreement or contract, written or oral, with a person for home repair, and he . . . promises performance which he does not intend to perform or knows will not be performed

If this Court were to adopt Mr. White's contorted use of the quoted contractual provision, then every contractor could defend against a charge of home repair fraud by merely refusing to do more work, unless paid more money—no matter how much they had already been overpaid in advance. As stated by our Supreme Court:

The courts have no right to add anything to or take anything from a statute, where the language is plain and unambiguous. To do so would encroach upon the power of the Legislature. The courts have neither the authority to write into the statute something which the legislators did not write therein, nor to ingraft upon it any exception not included by them.

Balouch v. State, 938 So.2d 253 (Miss. 2006)(citing Wallace v. Town of Raleigh, 815 So.2d 1203,1208 (Miss. 2002)).

Our home repair fraud statute does not have a "Get Out of Jail Free" provision which allows the offender to simply claim a fee dispute and thereby immunize himself or herself from prosecution, no matter the other circumstances at play. "Intent and knowledge shall be determined by an evaluation of all circumstances surrounding a transaction and the determination shall not be limited to the time of contract or agreement." *Miss. Code Ann.* § 97-23-103(3).

Mr. White was not prosecuted for having a fee dispute with Mr. Buchanan. He was prosecuted for promising performance in relation to a contract for home repair when he had no intent to perform or knew performance would not be made. He breached his promises, and violated the law, by accepting \$53,050.00, but only doing approximately \$15,000.00 worth of work; and by

failing to pay his subcontractors.

III. RESPONSE TO MR. WHITE'S ALLEGATION THAT THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT JURY INSTRUCTION D-12

Mr. White offered instruction D-12, which stated:

The Court instructs the jury that if the jury believes that David and Joanne Buchanan materially breached the contract entered into for home repair by failing to make payments as required by the contract under the GENERAL PROVISIONS portion of the contract on PAGE 4 of the contract (specifically paragraph 2 and provision (10.)), then the jury should return a verdict of not guilty.

As previously quoted, "The courts have no right to add anything to or take anything from a statute, where the language is plain and unambiguous." *Balouch v. State*, 938 So.2d 253 (Miss. 2006). Mr. White is asking for recognition of an affirmative defense which the Mississippi Legislature has never adopted. As stated by the Court of Appeals, a defendant is not entitled for a jury instruction to be given which is an incorrect statement of law. *Miller v. State*, 801 So.2d 799, 805 (Miss. COA 2001). The proffered instruction was such a misstatement of the applicable law.

Further, under any reasonable interpretation, Section Ten (10) of the General Provisions of the contract should not allow a builder to unilaterally decide to halt construction any time he or she *claims* that payment has been withheld. If not, taken to its logical extreme, a builder could be paid a million dollars up front by a consumer on a two million dollar job; do \$50,000.00 worth of work; demand payment of the other million; and then walk off the job with impunity from criminal prosecution—\$950,000.00 to the richer. For that type of conduct to be judicially sanctioned would require such a contorted interpretation of the Home Repair Fraud Statute as to be tantamount to its outright nullification by this Court.

Additionally, "As a general rule, an agreement will not be enforced where it conflicts with

the general policy and spirit of the statute which governs it, although there may be no literal conflict." 174 Am. Jur. 2d Contracts § 232 (citing Branham v. Miller Electric Co., 118 S.E.2d 167 (S.C. 1961)). While Section Ten (10) of the General Provisions of the contract between Mr. White and Mr. Buchanan might have some applicability in a civil context if a legitimate fee dispute were at issue (i.e., if the asserted value of the work completed was even in the ballpark with the amount of payment advanced), it cannot not be utilized to trump the very focus of the Home Repair Fraud Statute, that being to criminalize the conduct of builders who defraud consumers by pocketing money way in excess of the value of the work done, and then flying the coop. As artfully stated by the South Carolina Supreme Court:

[W]here legislative intent to declare an act unlawful is apparent from consideration of the statute, it matters not that the prohibition of the act is not declared in specific language, for an act that violates the general policy and spirit of the statute is no less within its condemnation than one that is in literal conflict with its terms.

Branham v. Miller Electric Co., 118 S.E.2d 167, 170 (S.C. 1961)(citations omitted).

Accordingly, Mr. White cannot wield as a sword, nor employ as a shield, Section Ten (10) of the contract in such a perverted manner as to immunize himself from prosecution under the Home Repair Fraud Statute. Any reasonable interpretation of this statute precludes the applicability of this provision under the facts of this case.

In considering whether Mr. White was guilty of home repair fraud, the jury was charged with reviewing multiple instructions, including, but not limited to, Jury Instruction 10, which set out each element of the offense of home repair fraud that the State had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt before the jury could return a verdict of guilty (R. 68); Instruction No. 7, which advised the jury that reasonable doubt can arise in multiple ways (R. 63); and Instruction No. 8, which advised the jury

that they were the judges of the credibility of the witnesses. (R. 64). The Court also gave nine additional, time-tested jury instructions. (R. 56-69). As voiced by our Supreme Court:

In determining whether error lies in the granting or refusal of various instructions, the instructions given must be read as a whole. When so read, if the instructions fairly announce the law of the case and create no injustice, no reversible error will be found.

Coleman v. State, 697 So.2d 777, 782 (Miss. 1997).

Based on the instructions being read as a whole, the jury was adequately and fairly advised of the correct law pertaining to the offense of home repair fraud. No error, much less reversible error, exists with respect to the issuance of jury instructions.

IV. RESPONSE TO MR. WHITE'S ALLEGATION THAT THE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE OF HIS FAILURE TO PAY SUBCONTRACTORS

Paragraph (4) of Page 4 of the contract executed by Mr. White and the Buchanans, provides: In addition, the following general provisions apply:

(4.) Contractor may at its discretion engage sub-contractors to perform work hereunder, provided Contractor shall fully pay said sub-contractor (State's Exhibit 2)

Section 97-23-103 of the Mississippi Code (i.e., the Home Repair Fraud Statute) states in pertinent part:

A person commits home repair fraud if he: (a) enters into an agreement or contract, written or oral, with a person for home repair, and he . . . promises performance which he does not intend to perform or knows will not be performed

Just as Mr. White asks you to include legislation which was never adopted by our Legislature (i.e., an affirmative defense of "fee dispute"), now he asks you to redact a portion of the home repair fraud statute. He wants you to artificially restrict the concept of "performance" in relation to the

terms of a contract for home repair to actual "brick and mortar" type work performed personally by the contractor on the job site. Promising to pay the subcontractors in this particular case was just as much an obligated act of "performance," as was promising to pour the necessary concrete slab. In fact, this promise of "performance" was important enough to be an independent provision within the terms of the contract.

Although a statute imposing criminal penalties must be strictly construed in favor of the accused, it should not be so strict as to override common sense or statutory purpose. *United States v. Brown*, 333 U.S. 18, 25, 68 S.Ct. 376,380, 92 L.Ed. 442, 448 (1948); see also State v. Burnham, 546 So.2d 690, 692 (Miss. 1989). Strict construction means reasonable construction. State v. Martin, 494 So.2d 501, 502 (Miss. 1986).

Reining v. State, 606 So.2d 1098, 1103 (Miss. 1992).

"This Court must presume the words in the statute were 'intended to convey their usual meaning absent some indication to the contrary." *Balouch v. State*, 938 So.2d 253 (Miss. 2006)(citing *Wallace v. Town of Raleigh*, 815 So.2d 1203,1208 (Miss. 2002)). The usual meaning of "performance" in relation to a contract (home repair or otherwise) is a party performing consistent, and in compliance, with the terms which he is obligated to fulfill under the contract. Section 4 of Page 4 (requiring payment of subcontractors) is no different in this regard. Whereas proposed Jury Instruction D-12 misstates the law regarding a contractor's duty to perform (i.e., if contractor makes a claim for additional payment, no matter how unreasonable, and homeowner does not pay, then no charge of home repair fraud can exist), Paragraph (4) of Page 4 of the contract explicitly identifies an example of the "type of performance" contemplated by the explicit wording of the Home Repair Fraud statute.

V. RESPONSE TO MR. WHITE'S ALLEGATION THAT THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO CONSIDER HIS EXPERT WHEN DETERMINING RESTITUTION

During the trial, the Court heard extensive testimony from both Mr. Green, the expert retained by Mr. White, and Mr. Robertson, the expert called by the State of Mississippi, in the form of direct examination, cross-examination, and redirect. Each expert was allowed to fully develop the basis for his findings with respect to the estimated value of the work performed, versus the amount of money which had already been paid to Mr. White by Mr. Buchanan. The Judge also heard testimony from the homeowner, from representatives of subcontractors and from a project manager. Once the jury returned a verdict of guilty, the jury was dismissed. The case was recessed to a later date, and the hearing with respect to the matter of restitution proceeded in the form of a bench trial.

As stated by our Supreme Court:

[F]or review of the findings of a trial judge sitting without a jury, this Court will reverse "only where the findings of the trial judge are manifestly erroneous or clearly wrong." *Amerson v. State*, 648 So.2d 58, 60 (Miss. 1994). The trial judge has sole authority to determine the credibility of a witness when sitting as the trier of fact in a bench trial. *Rice Researchers, Inc., v. Hiter*, 512 So.2d 1259, 1265 (Miss. 1987). An appellate court will affirm a trial court sitting without a jury on a question of fact unless, based on substantial evidence, the trial court was manifestly wrong. *Brown v. Williams*, 504 So.2d 1188, 1192 (Miss. 1987).

Reed v. State, 749 So.2d 179 (Miss. COA 1999).

The Judge had heard at length from Mr. Green and, upon putting on his "finder of fact" hat, obviously concluded that the testimony of the defense expert was questionable at best. Making such an evaluation as to witness credibility was not only then within the Judge's purview; it was his sole responsibility to do so.

As cited by the Appellant, "substantial evidence" has been described by our Supreme Court as being "such relevant evidence as reasonable minds might accept as adequate to support a

conclusion or, to put it simply, more than a mere 'scintilla' of evidence." *G.Q.A. v. Harrison County Dept. of Human Resources*, 771 So.2d 331, 335 (Miss. 2000)(citations omitted)(Brief of Appellant, Page 23). In the Statement of the Facts, *supra*, pages 4-9, the State delineates multiple reasons why the credibility of Mr. Green's expert testimony is suspect—much beyond the "mere scintilla" threshold. The County Court Judge heard every syllable of this testimony. While the Judge did not offer up a itemized list of such inconsistencies on the record, it certainly does not follow that he did not rely on some or all of this information in assigning the level of credibility and worth which Mr. Green's expert testimony was due. No error exists in this regard.

Further, while it is apparent that the trial court Judge relied heavily on the testimony offered by Randy Robertson, the State's expert, he did *not* adopt it verbatim because the amount credited to Mr. White by the Judge for work performed was *higher* than the amount calculated by utilizing Mr. Robertson's figures alone. Again, the Judge relied on much more than a "mere scintilla" of evidence in calculating restitution due to Mr. Buchanan and the payments due to subcontractors from the Defendant, Mr. White. The Judge gave credibility were he found credibility to be due. No error exists in this regard, nor in his ruling.

VI. RESPONSE TO MR. WHITE'S ALLEGATION THAT HIS PROSECUTION WILL OPERATE TO SUBJECT "ENORMOUS" NUMBERS OF CONTRACTORS TO PROSECUTION

Mr. White offers no authority in support of this argument. Therefore, this issue should be deemed procedurally barred. "Failure to cite relevant authority obviates the appellate court's obligation to review such issues." *Simmons v. State*, 805 So.2d 452, 487 (Miss. 2001)(citing *Williams v. State*, 708 So.2d 1358, 1362-63 (Miss. 1998)).

Potential procedural bar notwithstanding, this threat of the "floodgates of prosecution being

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